

# SOFTWARE USER'S GUIDE

P-touch P700

The contents of this guide and the specifications of this product are subject to change without notice. Brother reserves the right to make changes without notice in the specifications and materials contained herein, and shall not be responsible for any damages (including consequential) caused by reliance on the materials presented, including but not limited to typographical and other errors relating to the publications. The screen images in this guide may differ depending on your OS or P-touch.

Please visit us at <u>http://solutions.brother.com</u> where you can get product support and answers to frequently asked questions (FAQs).

Version 0 UK ENG

# Introduction

The Brother P-touch (hereafter referred to as "P-touch"), is compatible with many software applications, allowing you to print a document almost anywhere you need to work.

This guide will show you how easy it is to use P-touch Editor and other Brother software applications to print using text data.

# **Important Notice**

- The contents of this document and the specifications of this product are subject to change without notice.
- Brother reserves the right to make changes without notice in the specifications and materials contained herein and shall not be responsible for any damages (including consequential) caused by reliance on the materials presented, including but not limited to typographical and other errors relating to the publications.
- Screen images in this document may differ depending on your computer's operating system and your product model.
- Before using the P-touch, be sure to read all documents included with the P-touch for information about safety and proper operation.

# Symbols used in this Guide

The following symbols are used throughout this guide.

This symbol indicates information or directions that should be followed. Ignoring them may result in damage, or failed operations.
 NOTE
 This mark indicates notes that provide information or directions that can help you

better understand and use the product more efficiently.

# About this Guide

This guide (PDF) is included on the CD-ROM.

# NOTE

If using  $Adobe^{\ensuremath{\mathbb{R}}}$  Reader<sup> $\ensuremath{\mathbb{R}}$ </sup> to view this guide on a computer, the cursor changes to  $\sqrt{\ensuremath{\mathbb{L}}}$  when the cursor is placed on a link. Click the link to open the corresponding page. For information about using  $Adobe^{\ensuremath{\mathbb{R}}}$  Reader<sup> $\ensuremath{\mathbb{R}}$ </sup>, see the help file included with  $Adobe^{\ensuremath{\mathbb{R}}}$  Reader<sup> $\ensuremath{\mathbb{R}}$ </sup>.

# **Table of Contents**

# Section I Windows<sup>®</sup>

1	Installing and Uninstalling P-touch Software	2
	Installing P-touch Software and Printer Driver Uninstalling P-touch Software	2
2	How to use P-touch Editor Lite	4
	Using P-touch Editor Lite Starting P-touch Editor Lite	
3	How to use P-touch Editor	9
	Using P-touch Editor Starting P-touch Editor Operation modes	
4	How to use Print Driver to print from other applications	14
	Printing directly from other applications Setting the Printer Driver Printing from other applications	
5	How to use P-touch Library	19
	Using P-touch Library Starting P-touch Library Opening and editing templates Printing templates Searching for templates or other data	
6	How to update P-touch Software	24
	Updating P-touch Editor Updating the firmware / P-touch Editor Lite	
7	Printing labels distributed to multiple printers	28
	Distributed printing	

# Section II Macintosh

\_

8	How to use P-touch Editor Lite	33
	Using P-touch Editor Lite	33
	Starting P-touch Editor Lite	33

9	How to use P-touch Editor	38
	Using P-touch Editor	
	Starting P-touch Editor	
	Operation modes	
10	How to update P-touch Software	41
	Updating P-touch Editor	41
	Le detine the finnessen / Ditestels Editor Lite	40

# Section I



# Windows®

Installing and Uninstalling P-touch Software	2
How to use P-touch Editor Lite	4
How to use P-touch Editor	9
How to use Print Driver to print from other applications	14
How to use P-touch Library	19
How to update P-touch Software	24
Printing labels distributed to multiple printers	28

# Installing and Uninstalling P-touch Software

P-touch Editor allows you to create templates with various kinds of designs.

You can use P-touch Update Software to update P-touch Editor and the P-touch firmware. To download the latest driver and software, please visit the Brother Solutions Center website: <u>http://solutions.brother.com</u>

# **Installing P-touch Software and Printer Driver**

- 1 Insert the CD-ROM into your computer's CD-ROM drive.
- 2 Click [Standard Installation].
- 3 Follow the on-screen instructions to install the software.
- 4 Click [**Finish**] to close the installation screen.



Certain functions cannot be used if the printer driver is not installed. For more information about installing the printer driver, refer to the User's Guide.

# **Uninstalling P-touch Software**

### NOTE

- Perform this procedure only if the P-touch Editor / P-touch Update Software is no longer required.
- "Printer Setting Tool" appears in English as [Printer Setting Tool] in the Control Panel and shortcut icon.

# 1 For Windows Vista<sup>®</sup> / Windows<sup>®</sup> 7:

Click (Control Panel], go to [Programs] and open [Programs and Features]. The [Uninstall or change a program] dialog box appears.

### For Windows<sup>®</sup> 8:

Click [Control Panel] on the [Apps] screen, go to [Programs] and open [Programs and Features]. The [Uninstall or change a program] dialog box appears.

Choose [Brother P-touch Editor] / [Brother P-touch Update Software] / [Brother Printer Setting Tool] / [Brother P-touch Library], and click [Uninstall].

#### **3** Click [**OK**].

The uninstall operation starts. After the software is removed from your computer, the [Maintenance Complete] dialog box appears.

Close the [Uninstall or change a program] dialog box. Brother P-touch Editor / Brother P-touch Update Software / Brother Printer Setting Tool / Brother P-touch Library has been uninstalled.

# 2

# How to use P-touch Editor Lite

It is not necessary to install a driver or software for P-touch Editor Lite.

With P-touch Editor Lite, you can create various simple label layouts quickly and easily.

P-touch Editor Lite is only supported when connected using a USB cable.

# **Using P-touch Editor Lite**

# **Starting P-touch Editor Lite**

 After the USB cable is connected, a dialog box appears on the PC display. For Windows Vista<sup>®</sup>, click [P-touch Editor Lite]. For Windows<sup>®</sup> 7, click [Open folder to view files] then double-click [PTLITE10]. For Windows<sup>®</sup> 8, click [PT-P700], [Open folder to view files], and then double-click [PTLITE10]. P-touch Editor Lite starts.

\* The P-touch must be set to P-touch Editor Lite mode. See the User's Guide for more information.

# Layout window



## 1 Command Toolbar

lcon	Function	
	Displays the New screen for creating a new label.	
1	Opens a saved file with P-touch Editor Lite.	
	Saves the data to your PC, etc, but not to the P-touch.	
A	Inserts a new text box (convenient when creating labels containing both single and multiple lines of text).	

lcon	Function	
	Inserts an image onto your label.	
<ul> <li>[From file]: Inserts an image stored on your PC.</li> <li>[Screen capture]: Inserts the selected area of the PC screen as a graphic.</li> <li>[Symbol]: Inserts one of your PC's built-in symbols.</li> </ul>		
	Inserts a frame.	
P	Starts P-touch Editor.	
*	Displays the menu. The menu includes all P-touch Editor Lite functionality.	
_	Minimises P-touch Editor Lite.	
×	Exits P-touch Editor Lite.	

# 2 Property Toolbar

lcon	Function		
And -	Click <b>v</b> to change the font.		
	Click  to specify the font size.		
28 <b>• A A</b>	You can adjust the font size up or down one level by clicking 🖍 or 👔.		
<b>B I</b> <u>U</u>	Specifies the font style:		
AAA	Bold : <b>B</b> / <b>A</b> / <b>K</b> , Italic : <b>I</b> / <b>A</b> / <b>T</b> , Underline : <b>U</b> / <b>A</b> / <b>A</b>		
KTA	*The display of these commands may differ according to the country.		
∙⊒	Specifies the alignment of text in a text box.		
	Sets the width and colour of the tape. Click 🛒 to automatically detect the width and colour of		
	the inserted tape.		
Sets the width of the tape. Click T to automatically detect the width of the inserte			
	Sets the length of the label. Click 🔲 to automatically adjust the length of the label to		
accommodate the entered text.			
	Enables/disables vertical label direction.		
	Click 🔻 to set the zoom factor for the Label View. You can also change the zoom factor by clicking		
	Click 📻 to print normally or 🗸 to print with options.		
	[Auto Cut]: Each label is automatically cut after printing.		
	[Cut at end]: Cuts labels after the last label is printed. [Conics]: Prints multiple conies of a label		
1			

2



### 3 Label View

Display	Function	
4	This label view is displayed when the software is started. The width of tape currently set is displayed on the left of the label image. When [ <b>Auto</b> ] is shown on the right, the length of tape is automatically adjusted to the length of text.	
You can drag the label border to manually change the length and width of the label. N pointer to the label area's border. When the blue line appears, drag to the desired length and width of the desired length and width of the desired length area.		
- ب وکر	You can adjust the size of the P-touch Editor Lite window. Simply move the pointer over an edge of the P-touch Editor Lite window and drag to adjust the size once the pointer changes to an arrow.	
Guidelines are sometimes displayed when moving objects. They are shown when the ob aligned at the left, right, top, or bottom edge of the Printable area, or in the centre. In the illustration to the left, the guidelines indicate that the object is centred at the top edge of t		
	Inserted text boxes, images, and frames are treated as objects. Objects are surrounded by handles (indicated by eight blue points).	
	Indicates that an object is selected.	
The pointer changes to an arrow when moved over a handle. You can change the size object by dragging.		
	You can move objects by dragging when the pointer is a crosshair. For text objects, the pointer only changes to a crosshair over the border of the object.	



# 4 Other Functions (available from the menu displayed by right-clicking the mouse)

Menu	Do this		
Undo	Click [ <b>Undo</b> ] to undo the last operation.		
Redo	Click [ <b>Redo</b> ] to redo an undone operation.		
Cut			
Сору	Select the text area (or object) that you want to cut or copy and select [ <b>Cut</b> ] or [ <b>Copy</b> ]. Click in the destination area and select [ <b>Paste</b> ].		
Paste			
Margins	Always disabled for PT-P700.		
Insert Click [Insert]. Select [Text box] to insert text onto the label. Select [From file] to insert an image stored on your PC. Select [Screen capture] to insert the selected area of the PC screen. Select [Symbol] to insert one of your PC's built-in symbols. Select [Frame] to insert one of P-touch Editor Lite's built-in frames.			
Direction	Select the text object and click either [Horizontal Text] or [Vertical Text] to change the direction of the text.		
Numbering	Select the number or letter within your text and click [ <b>Numbering</b> ] to consecutively advance the number or letter on each label. When ready to print click $\checkmark$ to the right of the [ <b>Print</b> ] button and click [ <b>Print Options</b> ]. Check the [ <b>Numbering</b> ] box and enter the number of labels for printing in the [ <b>Count</b> ] field. Click the [ <b>Print</b> ] button.		
Change Image Select the image and click [Change Image] to replace the current image with a di			
Rotate	Rotate objects to [0°], [90°], [180°] or [270°].		
Order	Select one of the objects and click [Order], then select [Bring to Front], Send to Back], [Bring Forward], or [Send Backward] to set the order of each object in the layer.		
P-touch Editor Click [P-touch Editor]. Starts P-touch Editor.			

2

Menu	Do this		
Options	Click [ <b>Options</b> ]. Select either [ <b>mm (mm)</b> ] or [ <b>inches (in)</b> ] to set the measurement unit setting. Select the P-touch Editor Lite language. Restart the application to apply the new selected [ <b>Language</b> ]. Select either [ <b>Display New Value after Printing</b> ] or [ <b>Reset to Original Value after Printing</b> ] to set the numbering option.		
Brother Solutions Center About	Click [ <b>Brother Solutions Center</b> ] to go to the website for assistance and information. Click [ <b>About</b> ] to learn about the P-touch Editor Lite version. Click [ <b>Exit</b> ] to exit P-touch Editor Lite.		
Exit			

# How to use P-touch Editor

Refer to the procedures below for your computer's operating system. In the screen shots, "XX-XXXX" is displayed to represent the P-touch model number.

To download the latest driver and software, please visit the Brother Solutions Center at: <u>http://solutions.brother.com</u>

# **Using P-touch Editor**

# **Starting P-touch Editor**

3

**1** For Windows Vista<sup>®</sup> / Windows<sup>®</sup> 7

From the Start button, click [All Programs]-[Brother P-touch]-[P-touch Editor 5.1]. When P-touch Editor starts, select whether you want to create a new layout or open an existing layout.



#### For Windows<sup>®</sup> 8

Click [P-touch Editor 5.1] on the [Start]/[Apps] screen or double-click [P-touch Editor 5.1] on the desktop.

When P-touch Editor starts, select whether you want to create a new layout or open an existing layout.

## NOTE

- You can also start P-touch Editor using shortcuts, if you selected to create shortcuts during installation.
  - Shortcut icon on the desktop: double-click to start P-touch Editor
  - · Shortcut icon in the Quick Launch bar: click to start P-touch Editor
- To change how P-touch Editor functions when it starts, click [Tools]-[Options] in the P-touch Editor menu bar to display the [Options] dialog box. Select [General] and select the desired setting in the [Operations] list box under [Startup Settings]. The default setting is [Display New View].

How to use P-touch Editor

2 Select an option from the screen.



- 1 To create a new layout, click the [New Layout] button.
- 2 To create a new layout using a pre-set layout, select the desired category button.
- 3 To connect a pre-set layout to a database, select the check box next to [Connect Database].
- 4 To open an existing layout, click [Open].

# **Operation modes**

P-touch Editor has three different operation modes: [**Express**] mode, [**Professional**] mode, and [**Snap**] mode. You can easily switch between modes by using the mode selection buttons.

#### ■ [Express] mode



- 1 Menu bar
- 2 Command bar
- 3 Draw/Edit toolbar
- 4 Property bar
- 5 Layout window
- 6 Database window
- 7 Mode selection buttons

# ■ [Professional] mode



- 1 Menu bar
- 2 Standard toolbar
- 3 Property palette
- 4 Draw/Edit toolbar
- 5 Layout window
- 6 Database window
- 7 Mode selection buttons
- 8 Side bar

#### [Snap] mode

This mode allows you to capture all or a portion of your computer screen content, print it as an image, and save it for future use.

1 Click the [**Snap**] mode selection button. The [**Description of Snap mode**] dialog box is displayed.



2 Click [OK]. The [Snap] mode palette is displayed.

# nap Snap

### NOTE

- If you select the [**Do Not Display This Dialog Again**] check box in the [**Description of Snap mode**] dialog box, you switch to [**Snap**] mode next time without displaying the dialog box.
- For Windows Vista<sup>®</sup> / Windows<sup>®</sup> 7
   You can also start P-touch Editor in [Snap] mode by clicking the Start menu -[All Programs]-[Brother P-touch]-[P-touch Editor 5.1 (Snap mode)].
- For Windows<sup>®</sup> 8

You can also start P-touch Editor in [Snap] mode by clicking [P-touch Editor 5.1 (Snap mode)] on the [Start]/[Apps] screen.

# How to use Print Driver to print from other applications

# Printing directly from other applications

You can use this P-touch to print directly from most Windows<sup>®</sup> applications, by installing the printer driver.

Because the paper size for this P-touch is different from other regular printers, you may not be able to print even after installing the driver and application software, unless the application software allows the correct label size to be set.

# Setting the Printer Driver

Refer to the procedures below for your computer's operating system. In the screen shots, "XX-XXXX" is displayed to represent the P-touch model number.



# For Windows Vista<sup>®</sup>

Click ( [Control Panel], go to [Hardware and Sound] and open [Printers].

For Windows<sup>®</sup> 7

Click ( , go to [**Devices and Printers**].

## For Windows<sup>®</sup> 8

Click [Control Panel] on the [Apps] screen, go to [Hardware and Sound] and open [Devices and Printers].

NOTE

For more information, see Windows<sup>®</sup> Help.

# 2 For Windows Vista<sup>®</sup>

Choose "Brother XX-XXXX", and click [Select printing preferences]. The [Brother XX-XXXX Printing Preferences] dialog box appears.

## For Windows<sup>®</sup> 7 / Windows<sup>®</sup> 8

Choose "Brother XX-XXXX", and right click and select [Printing preferences]. The [Brother XX-XXXX Printing Preferences] dialog box appears.



3 Choose each item and click [**OK**].

[Basic] Tab

The paper size can be selected.

If the size of paper to be used is not listed in the [**Paper Size**] list, a new paper size can be added. Then, select the paper size from the [**Paper Size**] list.

-		
in the second state of the		? 💌
brother xx-xxxx		<u> </u>
	Terr Advanced	(The
×	Press Trees	
ABC		
ADO		C Parama la constante a consta
	wide:	<i>P</i>
	Longh	
Page Son RD 21+11	(freed	
Caper 1	Destator	
Quely .	-	
The plant is plant plant		
fater.	2-44	
	Option	
The lage CP		
Index Includes		
Page 1		
Cartan 8		
		[internal
1 mont		
	100	Canal (Santa (Santa

#### NOTE

The dialog box that appears differs depending on the model being used.

[Advanced] Tab

Settings for [Halftone], [Brightness] and [Contrast] can be specified from this tab.

When using a fixed size with continuous length tape, click [**Settings**] to display a dialog box, and then specify the necessary settings.



# NOTE

For more information on [**Distributed Printing**], refer to *Printing labels distributed to multiple printers* on page 28.

# ■ [Other] Tab

Settings for [Unit] and [Start printing] can be specified from this tab.



4 Close the [**Printers**] (Windows Vista<sup>®</sup>) / [**Devices and Printers**] (Windows<sup>®</sup> 7/Windows<sup>®</sup> 8) window.

# Printing from other applications

We will use Microsoft<sup>®</sup> Word 2007 as an example.

The following explanations and procedures depict Windows<sup>®</sup> 7, and may vary depending on your computer's operating system. In the screen shots, "XX-XXXX" is displayed to represent the P-touch model number.



2 Choose "Brother XX-XXXX"

Brother XX-XXXX	Prest			?
	2111	Brother XX-XXXX	×	
Anna Anna anna 1200 anna 1	•			Theread Audity
	anda a ya Neo yau Nya		Daam Peganon dipeti Sada te pegan tapa Techning	•

If you want to change the settings of the printer driver from the click [**Properties**] to open the printer's [**Properties**] dialog box. Click [**OK**] after completing your changes to close the dialog box, and return to the [**Print**] dialog box.

- 3 Click 🔜 to close the [**Print**] dialog box.
- When you click [Page Layout], the ribbon appears. Then click is to the right of Page Setup. The [Page Setup] dialog box appears.

How to use Print Driver to print from other applications

5 Click the [**Paper**] tab, and choose the paper size that you want to print.

Page Setup	? 💌
Heges Part Land.	
Paget, Kitt	
(Init usige	(the segme
	Nerragi A
ų.	+
Parate	
	in in interview

Set page margins in the [Margins] tab as well.

# 6 Click [**OK**].

The size of the Microsoft<sup>®</sup> Word window is adjusted to the paper size that you have just chosen. Edit the document as needed.

# **7** Click [**0K**].

The specified labels are printed.

5

# How to use P-touch Library

This program allows you to use your computer to manage P-touch Template and other data. You can use P-touch Library to print templates.

# **Using P-touch Library**

# **Starting P-touch Library**

# For Windows Vista $^{\mathbb{R}}$ / Windows $^{\mathbb{R}}$ 7

From the Start button, click [All Programs]-[Brother P-touch]-[P-touch Tools]-[P-touch Library 2.2].

# For Windows<sup>®</sup> 8

Click [P-touch Library 2.2] on the [Start]/[Apps] screen.

When P-touch Library starts, the main window is displayed.

#### Main window



#### 1 Menu bar

Provides access to all available commands, which are grouped under each menu title ([File], [Edit], [View], [Tool], and [Help]) according to their functions.

How to use P-touch Library

### 2 Toolbar

Provides access to frequently used commands.

#### 3 Folder list

Displays a list of folders. When you select a folder, the templates or other data in the selected folder is displayed in the templates list.

4 Templates list

Displays a list of the templates or other data in the selected folder.

5 Preview

Displays a preview of the templates or other data selected in the templates list.

#### **Explanations of the Toolbar Icons**

lcon	Button name	Function
1	Open	Opens the selected template.
	<b>Print</b> (Only for P-touch Library)	Prints the selected label template with the P-touch.
	Search	Allows you to search for templates or other data that are registered to P-touch Library.
	Display Style	Changes the file display style.

How to use P-touch Library

# **Opening and editing templates**

A fer Carthonia - P Standt Calenay Die Latte ginne Deur Deur		
8 0	•	
	No controls are selected.	
For Hills, press 75	1	

Select the template you want to open or edit, and then click [Open].

The program that is associated with the template will be started and you can edit the template.

## NOTE

The program that starts depends on the type of file that is selected. For example, if you select a P-touch Template, P-touch Editor starts.

# **Printing templates**

Select the template that you want to print and then click [Print].

A to Carton P tout they		
đ P	•	
	Re controls are selected.	
For Hills, press 72		

The template is printed using the connected P-touch.

# Searching for templates or other data

You can search for templates or other data registered to P-touch Library.



Click [Search].

The [Search] dialog box is displayed.

Barlanes Frankling In Dir per Der Der	
Search (23)	
Registransees P and C in	
Г ная разлика у	
The function for the function	
The Male pare N.	

2 Specify the search criteria.

The following search criteria are available:

Settings	Details
Multiple Parameters	Determines how the program searches when multiple criteria are specified. If you select [ <b>AND</b> ], the program searches for files that satisfy all of the criteria. If you select [ <b>OR</b> ], the program searches for files that satisfy any of the criteria.
Name	Allows you to search for a template or other data by specifying the file name.
Туре	Allows you to search for a template or other data by specifying the file type.
Size	Allows you to search for a template or other data by specifying the file size.
Date	Allows you to search for a template or other data by specifying the file date.

How to use P-touch Library

#### 3 Click [**Begin Search**]. The search begins.



4 Close the [**Search**] dialog box.

The search results can be confirmed by clicking [Search Results] in the folder view.

## NOTE

You can register templates or other data to P-touch Library by dragging and dropping them into the [**All Contents**] folder or to the folder list. You can also configure P-touch Editor to register templates to P-touch Library automatically, using the following procedure:

- 1 From the P-touch Editor menu, select [Tools]-[Options].
- 2 In the [Options] dialog box, click [Registration Settings] in the [General] tab.
- 3 Select the timing for registering templates created with P-touch Editor, and then click [OK].

# How to update P-touch Software

The software can be upgraded to the latest available version using this tool.

In the following steps, you will see XX-XXXX. Read "XX" as your P-touch name.

# NOTE

6

- To use the P-touch Update Software, it is necessary to install it from the CD-ROM provided. You can also download it from the Brother Solutions Center (<u>http://solutions.brother.com</u>).
- You must be connected to the internet in order to launch the P-touch Update Software.
- You may find that the software and the contents in this manual are different.
- Upon installation of the P-touch Update Software, an icon will be installed on your desktop for your convenience.
- Do not turn off the power when transferring data or updating firmware.

# **Updating P-touch Editor**

For Windows Vista<sup>®</sup> / Windows<sup>®</sup> 7 Double-click the [P-touch Update Software] icon.

## NOTE

The following method can also be used to start the P-touch Update Software.

Click the Start button, and then select [All Programs] - [Brother P-touch] - [P-touch Update Software].

#### For Windows<sup>®</sup> 8 Click [P-touch Update Software] on the [Start]/[Apps] screen or double-click [P-touch Update Software] on the desktop.



How to update P-touch Software

2 Click the [Computer software update] icon.



3 Select the [**Printer**] and [Language], select the check box next to P-touch Editor and then click [Install].

🖉 Princett Operate Sufficient	
(in just pap	
	to offere and additional data
	Carterian of the state.
XX-X00X	
Languages Brader Lands	i liyensi 🔹
(Selat)	geffical can
100	in an A
	5.0.12 22.070
	~
<	
	🕞 link term for investig
SAMPT	Rector Design Categories
	is to avoid the second of the
	Part officer land

4 A message is displayed to indicate the installation has finished.

# Updating the firmware / P-touch Editor Lite

- Do not turn off the power when transferring data or updating firmware.
   Before connecting the USB cable to the computer, check the Editor Lite lamp is not lit. If the Editor Lite lamp is lit, press and hold down the Editor Lite button until the lamp goes off.
   If another application is running, please exit the application.
- 1 Turn the P-touch on and connect the USB cable.
  - For Windows Vista<sup>®</sup> / Windows<sup>®</sup> 7 Double-click the [P-touch Update Software] icon.

### NOTE

The following method can also be used to start the P-touch Update Software. Click the Start button, and then select [**All Programs**] - [**Brother P-touch**] - [**P-touch Update Software**].

### For Windows<sup>®</sup> 8

Click [**P-touch Update Software**] on the [**Start**]/[**Apps**] screen or double-click [**P-touch Update Software**] on the desktop.



3 Click the [Machine update] icon.







5 Select the [Language], select the check box next to the firmware to be updated, and then click [Transfer].

Do not turn off the P-touch or disconnect the cable while the data is being transferred.

Ø Paul (paul	
De Jon p	ł
	a latest compatible collease and data will be extremel to the dambies. In: the desced term, and then dati the "transfer "builder.
Seator -	XX - XXXX 👻
(manage	Ingel-Control Topped
(Selate)	
	terms. San
	man O. They Labor Collection: 1.1. 1204 B

6 Check the content to be updated, and then click [**Start**] to begin the update. The software download begins.

# NOTE

0

Do not turn off the P-touch during the update process.

# Printing labels distributed to multiple printers

# **Distributed printing**

When printing a large number of labels, printing can be distributed among multiple printers. Since printing is performed at the same time, the total printing time can be reduced.

# NOTE

- Printing can be distributed to printers connected that are via a USB connection.
- The number of pages to be printed is automatically divided among the selected printers. If the specified number of pages cannot be evenly divided among the printers, it will be divided in the order of the printers listed in the [Distributed Printing Settings] dialog box, when the print settings are specified in step ().



- From the [File] menu in P-touch Editor 5.1, click [Print].
- 2 Click [Properties...].

3 Select the [Advanced] tab, select the [Distributed Printing] check box, and then click [Settings].



4 In the [**Distributed Printing Settings**] dialog box, select the printers to be used for distributed printing.



1 Select the check box next to the [Printer Name] to use for distributed printing.

5 Specify the label size to be used for printing.

#### A. If only one printer has been selected.

In the dialog box from step (4), select the printer whose setting is to be specified, and then either doubleclick it, or right-click it and click [Settings]. From the [Paper] drop-down list, select the label size.

Brother XX-XXXX	
Internet and	to page to be used to defined
Tape.	
Parliane	1.000
Robert and de	
1	
	(B) Canoli

#### NOTE

Information to be displayed in the dialog box from step **4** can be entered in the **[Notes]** text box.

#### B. If multiple printers have been selected.

In the dialog box from step ④, select the printers whose settings are to be specified, right-click them and click [**Settings**]. From the [**Paper**] drop-down list, select the label size. The same label size setting is applied to all selected printers.

Multiple Production	ting.	x
Taket for soft of any	The paper is her contribution	
Pape	STATE:	•
	555	
-		
R.		
	ill. Cand	

#### NOTE

The settings below [Printer Settings] and [Notes] are not available.

6 Click [**OK**] to close the label size setting window.

Click [OK] to close the [Distributed Printing Settings] window. Setup is completed. Printing labels distributed to multiple printers



# 8 Click [**OK**] to start distributed printing.

# NOTE -

We recommend performing a connection test for your operating environment. For more information, contact a sales representative.

# Section II



How to use P-touch Editor Lite	33
How to use P-touch Editor	38
How to update P-touch Software	41

# 8 How to use P-touch Editor Lite

It is not necessary to install a driver or software for P-touch Editor Lite.

With P-touch Editor Lite, you can create various simple label layouts quickly and easily.

P-touch Editor Lite is only supported when connected using a USB cable.

# **Using P-touch Editor Lite**

# **Starting P-touch Editor Lite**

Double-click [**PT-P700**] on the desktop and the [**P-touch Editor Lite**] application icon.

\* The P-touch must be set to P-touch Editor Lite mode. See the User's Guide for more information.

# Layout window



## 1 Command Toolbar

Icon	Function
A	Displays the New screen for creating a new label.
1	Opens a saved file with P-touch Editor Lite.
K	Selects an object.
A	Inserts a new text box (convenient when creating labels containing both single and multiple lines of text).
	Inserts a frame.

Icon	Function
	Inserts an image onto your label.
	[From file]: Inserts an image stored on your computer.
<b>!</b> *	[Symbol]: Inserts one of your computer's built-in symbols.
P	Prints a label.
P	Starts P-touch Editor.
• • •	Exits, minimises, or maximises P-touch Editor Lite.

# 2 Property Toolbar

lcon	Function		
Arial \$	Click ≑ to change the font.		
35.9 <b>v A A</b>	Click 🛊 to specify the font size. You can adjust the font size up or down one level by clicking 🖍 or 👔.		
B I U	Specifies the font style:     B     B     Italic     Underline		
	Specifies the alignment of text in a text box.		
<b>‡</b>	Sets the width of the tape. Click To automatically detect the width of the inserted tape.		
	Sets the length of the label. Click is to automatically adjust the length of the label to accommodate the entered text.		
A	Sets the label direction to vertical or horizontal.		
A	Sets the text direction to vertical or horizontal.		
- 100% ÷ +	Click 🔹 to set the zoom factor for the Label View. You can also change the zoom factor by clicking 🕞 or 🛨.		



## 3 Label View

Display	Function
5 2	This label view is displayed when the software is started. The width of tape currently set is displayed on the left of the label image. When [ <b>Auto</b> ] is shown on the right, the length of tape is automatically adjusted to the length of text.
	You can drag the label border to manually change the length and width of the label. Move the pointer to the label area's border. When the blue line appears, drag to the desired length or width.
د وکر وکرد	You can adjust the size of the P-touch Editor Lite window. Simply move the pointer over an edge of the P-touch Editor Lite window and drag to adjust the size once the pointer changes to an arrow.
	Inserted text boxes, images, and frames are treated as objects. Objects are surrounded by handles (indicated by eight blue points).
	Indicates that an object is selected.
5. 1833	The pointer changes to an arrow when moved over a handle. You can change the size of the object by dragging.
	You can move objects by dragging when the pointer is a crosshair. For text objects, the pointer only changes to a crosshair over the border of the object.

# 🗯 P-touch Editor Lite File Edit Format Layout Window

#### 4 Menu bar

Menu		Function	
P-touch Editor Lite	About P-touch Editor Lite		Displays the version information of the application.
	Preferences		Configures the environment settings.
	Hide P-touch Editor Lite		Hides the application.
	Hide Others		Hides other applications.
	Show All		Displays all of the applications that are currently open.
	Quit P-touch Editor Lite		Quits the application.
File	New		Displays a new layout window (if there is no existing data in the Label View, the display will be grey).
	Open		Displays the dialog box for opening a file.
	Close		Closes the active file.
	Save		Saves the active file.
	Save As		Displays the dialog box for saving the file with a new file name.
	Print		Displays the printing dialog box.
Edit	Undo		Undoes the last operation.
	Redo		Redoes the last undone operation.
	Cut		Cuts the selected area and moves it to the Clipboard.
	Сору		Copies the selected area and moves it to the Clipboard.
	Paste		Pastes the item from the Clipboard.
	Clear		Deletes the selected area.
	Select All		Selects all of the objects.
Format	Direction	Horizontal Text	Sets the direction of the text in the selected object to horizontal.
		Vertical Text	Sets the direction of the text in the selected object to vertical.
	Numbering		Sets/cancels numbering for the selected text.

Menu		Function	
Layout	Margins	Large	Configures the margin settings.
		Small	
	Order	Bring to Front	Changes the layer of the selected object in the
		Send to Back	layout.
		Bring Forward	
		Send Backward	
	Rotate	Rotate 90° Left	Rotates the selected object.
		Rotate 90° Right	
		<b>0</b> °	Returns the selected object to its original orientation.
		90°	Rotates the selected object 90° clockwise.
		180°	Rotates the selected object 180° clockwise.
		270°	Rotates the selected object 270° clockwise.
Window	Minimize		Minimises the window.
	Zoom		Enlarges/reduces the window size.
	Bring All to Front		Moves all of the windows to the front.
	(Name of the window)		Name of the active window.

# 9

# How to use P-touch Editor

Refer to the procedures below for your computer's operating system. In the screen shots, "XX-XXXX" is displayed to represent the P-touch model number.

To download the latest driver and software, please visit the Brother Solutions Center at: <u>http://solutions.brother.com</u>

# **Using P-touch Editor**

# **Starting P-touch Editor**

1 Double-click the [**P-touch Editor**] icon on the desktop.

### NOTE

The following method can also be used to start P-touch Editor.

Double-click [Macintosh HD] - [Applications] - [P-touch Editor] and then the [P-touch Editor] application icon.

P-touch Editor will start.

# **Operation modes**

### Standard Mode

This mode provides easy label creation with texts and images.

The layout window consists of the following sections:



- 1 Command bar
- 2 Draw/Edit toolbar
- 3 Inspector
- 4 Layout window
- 5 Database window

How to use P-touch Editor

#### Snap Mode

With this mode, you can capture the screen, print it as an image, and save it for future use. To start the Snap mode, follow the steps below.

(1) When you click [Snap Mode], the [Description of Snap mode] dialog box appears. Click [OK].

creen Capiture Nutotian	Drag and drag function	And find funding
Flower	P-touch Electronic Labeling System	A.2033
governt, stroten, markitaniarea solar and powers. With the so creative and powers. With the so creative and powers.	P-touchtxt	
		A.2033
R SHAP	aff into its interior its the	lipited withdow.
the line Disarian Time Day	ing Agents	

### NOTE

2

If you select the [**Do Not Display This Dialog Again**] check box in the [**Description of Snap mode**] dialog box, you switch to [**Snap**] mode next time without displaying the dialog box.

Snap mode appears.



# How to update P-touch Software

The software can be upgraded to the latest available version using this tool.

In the following steps, you will see XX-XXXX. Read "XX" as your P-touch name.

# NOTE

- To use the P-touch Update Software, you can download it from the Brother Solutions Center (<u>http://solutions.brother.com</u>).
- You must be connected to the internet in order to launch the P-touch Update Software.
- You may find that the software and the contents in this manual are different.
- Upon installation of the P-touch Update Software, an icon will be installed on your desktop for your convenience.
- Do not turn off the power when transferring data or updating firmware.

# **Updating P-touch Editor**

1 Double-click the [P-touch Update Software] icon.

# NOTE

The following method can also be used to start the P-touch Update Software.

Double-click [Macintosh HD] - [Applications] - [P-touch Update Software] and then [P-touch Update Software] application icon.



How to update P-touch Software

2 Click the [Computer software update] icon.



3 Select the [**Printer**] and [Language], select the check box next to P-touch Editor and then click [Install].

000	Presselt Update Software
	and computer software and additional data will be decined items, and then click the "install" button.
Poter	( human #1-3710) \$
Language	(Engli utilize hed States)
Fields:	Refrech Los
	10000 Tox 5.0.001 21.700
P	Citità here for almaite Tras a the reveal version of P much Editor LG. P much Editor LG a activest the provider voltas advanced functions for adding abolic to mart any read.

4 A message is displayed to indicate the installation has finished.

10

# Updating the firmware / P-touch Editor Lite

- Do not turn off the power when transferring data or updating firmware.
- Before connecting the USB cable to the computer, check the Editor Lite lamp is not lit. If the Editor Lite lamp is lit, press and hold down the Editor Lite button until the lamp goes off.
- If another application is running, please exit the application.
- 1 Turn the P-touch on and connect the USB cable.
- 2 Double-click the [**P-touch Update Software**] icon.

#### NOTE

0

The following method can also be used to start the P-touch Update Software. Double-click [Macintosh HD] - [Applications] - [P-touch Update Software] and then [P-touch Update Software] application icon.





Click the [Machine update] icon.



10





5 Select the [Language], select the check box next to the firmware to be updated, and then click [Transfer].



Do not turn off the P-touch or disconnect the cable while the data is being transferred.

6 Check the content to be updated, and then click [Start] to begin the update. The software download begins.

# NOTE

0

Do not turn off the P-touch during the update process.

# brother.